IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III No. 290484 Consolidated with

No. 290751

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

DAVID EUGENE RICHARDS, Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Andrea Burkhart, WSBA #38519 Attorney for Appellant Burkhart & Burkhart, PLLC PO Box 946 Walla Walla, WA 99362

Tel: (509) 529-0630 Fax: (509) 525-0630



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III No. 290484 Consolidated with

No. 290751

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

DAVID EUGENE RICHARDS, Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Andrea Burkhart, WSBA #38519 Attorney for Appellant Burkhart & Burkhart, PLLC PO Box 946 Walla Walla, WA 99362 Tel: (509) 529-0630

I. INTRODUCTION

David Richards was convicted of second degree murder and first degree manslaughter for his role in the death of Michelle Kitterman.

Richards' case was joined for trial with co-defendant Tansy Mathis. Both defendants had made statements to investigators that were divergent, thus incriminating both. Further, while Richards was held in custody, his trial was continued several months over his objection and past the deadline for a speedy trial for the sole purpose of keeping the matter joined with co-defendant Mathis.

At trial, the court allowed the State to introduce statements made by Richards to law enforcement without proper *Miranda* warnings, after the law enforcement officers had used the threat of arresting him on a warrant to coerce his statements. Upon eventually receiving *Miranda* warnings, Richards stated that he did not want to give up his rights. Notwithstanding his invocation, questioning did not immediately cease and the statements obtained were used against him at trial.

The State's theory of the case was that Kitterman was having an affair with a married man, Daniel Pavek, and became pregnant by him.

Pavek's wife, Lacey Hirst, enlisted Mathis to get rid of Kitterman and her unborn child. Mathis, in turn, contacted Richards and asked him to help

her take care of a snitch. Despite this straightforward theory of the murder as the product of a woman scorned, the trial was permeated with testimony about the defendants' drug use and drug dealing, as well as his propensity to carry knives, which were not relevant to the State's theory of the case and served little purpose beyond depicting Richards as a dangerous law-breaker and an individual of low moral character.

The State was also permitted to introduce a number of hearsay statements made by Hirst, although Hirst did not testify and was not subject to cross-examination. The trial court allowed the testimony as statements of a co-conspirator, even though the evidence did not establish Richards' complicity with Hirst's objective and even though several statements were not made in furtherance of the conspiracy.

Finally, in its instructions to the jury regarding the aggravating circumstances charged, the court incorrectly instructed the jury that its verdict on the aggravating circumstances must be unanimous.

In light of the multitude of errors affecting the trial, the process cannot be relied upon as producing a just result that fairly and objectively evaluated Richards' guilt based solely on the strength of the evidence.

Because the errors collectively resulted in a trial that was impermissibly

inflammatory, Richards' convictions should be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court erred in failing to sever Richards' case from Mathis' case.
- The trial court erred in finding that Richards' statement to police that "Hollywood did it" was spontaneous and voluntary.
- 3. The trial court erred in finding that Richards knowingly and voluntarily waived his *Miranda* rights when the testimony established that Richards invoked his rights.
- 4. The trial court erred in admitting out-of-court statements made by Hirst that did not fall within the exception for statements of a co-conspirator in furtherance of a conspiracy.
- 5. The trial court erred in allowing extensive irrelevant testimony about Richards being a drug dealer and carrying a number of knives and an ice pick, contrary to ER 404(b).
- 6. The trial court incorrectly instructed the jury on the sentencing enhancement.
- 7. Cumulative error deprived Richards of a fair trial.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Did the trial court's refusal to sever the co-defendants' cases violate Richards' right to a speedy trial?
- 2. Did the trial court err in concluding that Richards' statement to officers that "Hollywood did it" was spontaneous when the officer who heard the statement testified that they were involved in a conversation in which the officer stated that he considered Richards a witness and wanted him to talk?
- 3. Did the trial court err in concluding that Richards voluntarily waived his rights under *Miranda v. Arizona* when Richards stated unequivocally that he did not want to give up his rights and felt that he was being blackmailed into speaking?
- 4. Did the trial court err in admitting out-of-court statements by Hirst under the co-conspirator statement exception, when there was no evidence that Richards had any contact with Hirst or had any intention of helping her "get rid of" her husband's girlfriend?
- 5. Did the trial court err in admitting statements by Hirst that were not made in furtherance of any conspiracy?
- 6. Did the trial court err in admitting substantial and pervasive testimony about Richards' involvement in using and selling

methamphetamine and his history of carrying knives and an ice pick without making findings as to the evidence's relevance or prejudicial effect?

- 7. Did the trial court err in instructing the jury that its decision on the sentencing enhancement had to be unanimous?
- 8. Did the cumulative effect of these errors deprive Richards of a fair trial?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Michelle Kitterman was found dead on the morning of March 1, 2009. Clerk's Papers ("CP") 1043. A medical examiner determined that she died from multiple puncture wounds to the chest and back, as well as blunt impact injuries to the head. IX-B Verbatim Report of Proceedings ("RP") 1433. The medical examiner also observed that Kitterman was in the early stages of pregnancy at the time of her death. IX-B RP 1449-51.

After Kitterman's body was identified, law enforcement officers learned from her roommate that Kitterman was having an affair with Daniel Pavek and was pregnant with his child. V RP 753, 761-62; CP 1040. Investigators learned that Lacey Hirst, Pavek's wife, had contacted the Oroville Police Department to report that Kitterman was not complying with her conditions of release on a drug charge and that she

was consuming methamphetamine while pregnant. V RP 763; VII RP 1001, 1008-09. Hirst also made several other complaints to the Oroville Police about Kitterman. VII RP 1012.

The investigators also learned that Hirst worked at Sunrise Auto and contacted several of her co-workers. V RP 767. They learned that Hirst kept a file on Kitterman at her office. VII RP 1018-19. Hirst was having performance problems because of her husband's affair and had made statements about having Kitterman taken care of or eliminated, and bringing in people from Spokane to make Kitterman disappear. VII RP 1016-17. Other co-workers and acquaintances of Hirst reported hearing her make similar statements about taking care of Kitterman. VII RP 1032, 1062-63.

During the course of the investigation, police discovered that Hirst had rented a vehicle from her employer on February 26, 2009 and returned it sometime after Sunrise Auto closed on Saturday, February 28, 2009 and before it reopened the following Monday. VI RP 931-33. Hirst stated that she needed the vehicle to take her husband to rehab in Yakima. VII RP 982. Police retrieved the vehicle and searched it, finding that the cargo area was wet and smelled of cleaning agents. V RP 769. They also

discovered some stains that were later determined to be Kitterman's blood. V RP 771, VIII RP 1187, 1241-42.

A few days after Kitterman's body was found, an officer stopped Tansy Mathis' vehicle and asked her to talk. IX-A RP 1322-23. Mathis told the officer that Hirst had rented the vehicle for her, so that she could drive to Chelan and Bellingham. IX-A RP 1325-26. Mathis admitted driving to Spokane in the vehicle as well as Republic. IX-A RP 1327, 1330. At another point, she also claimed driving to Bellingham and back. IX RP 1335. She admitted calling Hirst at about 1:00 in the morning from Republic but denied that she had gone to Kitterman's house. IX-A RP 1330-31. She admitted vacuuming and cleaning the rental car. IX-A RP 1335.

On March 15, 2011, police spoke with Brian Hohman, an associate of both Mathis and Richards. VIII RP 1108, 1110, 1142. Hohman said that Mathis had called him asking for help because she was being investigated for a murder. VIII RP 1111. According to Hohman, Mathis told him that they were going to pick Kitterman up because Kitterman was going to rat her out. VIII RP 1113-14. Mathis revealed other details about Kitterman's death and asked Hohman to contact another witness to tell her to keep her mouth shut. VIII RP 1116-17, 1119-21. Mathis also asked

Hohman to get rid of Hollywood, aka Brent Phillips, whom she told Hohman had stabbed Kitterman to death. VIII RP 1130, 1165. Hohman told the police that the weapon used in the killing was an ice pick, and that Richards was known to carry an ice pick. CP 1043.

The investigators learned that Phillips and Mathis had gone to a residence in Spokane after the murder. III RP 272. When they went to the home, the resident identified himself as David Richards. Upon discovering that there was an outstanding warrant for his arrest, the officers handcuffed Richards and took him to the police station. III RP 273-74. Although one officer testified that Richards was under arrest on the warrant, he also told Richards that if he cooperated in talking about the murder, they would allow him to take care of his warrant on his own. III RP 276. The officers did not advise Richards of his *Miranda* rights at that time. III RP 277, 292.

Richards told the officers that he did not want to be a snitch. III RP 278. The officers then began walking Richards to the jail to book him on the warrant. III RP 278. On the way to the jail, one of the officers told Richards, "We consider you a witness and we'd like you to talk to us." Richards responded, "Okay, I'll talk. Hollywood told me he did it." III RP 279. The officers then walked Richards back to the interview room

and advised him of his *Miranda* rights. III RP 280. Richards stated that he did not want to give up his rights and that he thought he was being blackmailed into talking. III RP 281. He subsequently gave a statement. III RP 303. In his statement, Richards told the officers that on the Wednesday before Kitterman's death, he discovered that his ice pick was missing. Hollywood, who was staying with Richards, was gone for the weekend with Mathis and admitted that he had taken the ice pick. Hollywood told Richards that things went bad, it was bloody, they killed a girl, burned their clothes and the ice pick in a fire and threw what was left in the river. CP 1042. After making his statement, Richards was allowed to leave. III RP 297.

A few days after Richards' interrogation, police interviewed
Phillips at the Okanogan County Jail. Phillips claimed that Richards
approached him to go somewhere and took him to Mathis' house, where
Richards and Mathis talked. After they left, Richards told Phillips that
they wanted him to take out a chick who was snitching on people.
Richards wanted Phillips to go with him to do it. CP 1043.

Phillips claimed that he rode with Mathis and a Mexican drug dealer while Richards rode in a separate vehicle. After several hours they arrived at Kitterman's house, where Mathis asked Phillips to get Kitterman to go to the casino with them. Kitterman rode with Mathis and Phillips. During the drive, Phillips claimed they passed Richards' car on the side of the road. Richards told Phillips to get Kitterman out of the car. When they got out of the car, Phillips grabbed Kitterman by the neck and strangled her, throwing her into the car and onto the ground. He claims that he stopped and got into the car where he experienced breathing problems. Mathis then yelled at Richards to finish it. Phillips claimed that he saw Richards kneeling over Kitterman but did not see what he did. He also saw Mathis grab Kitterman by the shoulders while Richards grabbed her legs. Kitterman was screaming. Mathis and Richards moved Kitterman to the side of the road and they left the area. CP 1044.

Based on Phillips' statement, the State ultimately charged Richards with aggravated first degree murder, first degree felony murder, first degree manslaughter, and first degree kidnapping, and obtained a warrant for his arrest. CP 692-97, 1038. The State moved to join Richards' case for trial with Mathis'. CP 982-83. Richards opposed the joinder on the grounds that the defendants' divergent statements were incriminating. II RP 161. The trial court granted the State's motion and joined the cases for trial. II RP 163.

_

¹¹ Phillips and Hirst were also charged for their involvement in Kitterman's death, but their cases were not joined with Mathis and Richards. *See* I RP 98.

On November 9, 2009, the trial court continued the trial date beyond Richards' speedy trial deadline, over Richards' objection. I RP 111, 131,135-36. The court again continued the trial date on Mathis' request, over Richards' objection. II RP 216, 228, 234. Mathis requested another continuance, at which time Richards objected and questioned whether the cases should continue to be joined. II RP 243, 246. The court granted Mathis' motion and also continued Richards' trial beyond his speedy trial deadline so that the matters could remain joined. II RP 254-55. In its findings of fact and conclusions of law, the trial court held that "[j]udicial economy outweighs Defendant Richards [sic] speedy trial date." CP 850.

Richards challenged the admissibility of the statements he made to the officers when he was first arrested on the outstanding warrant. CP 840. After the hearing, the trial court suppressed the first statement but found that Richards' statement that "Hollywood did it" was spontaneous and admissible at trial. III RP 340-41. Likewise, the trial court found that even though Richards expressly stated that he did not want to give up his rights and that he felt he was being blackmailed, he nevertheless knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waived his rights. III RP 345-48. His later statements were admitted at trial. IX-A RP 1298-99. His first

statement, given without *Miranda* warnings, was allowed to be used against him at trial for impeachment. XIII RP 1986.

Prior to trial, Richards moved in limine to suppress any evidence of prior bad acts arising under ER 404(b). CP 784. The State sought to introduce evidence of drug transactions under ER 404(b), arguing that "drug transactions were interwoven and pervasive throughout the lead up and commission of the crime." CP 766, 769. Although the State's theory of the case had nothing to do with drug use or drug transactions – rather, the State alleged that Hirst had brainstormed Kitterman's murder because of Kitterman's affair with Hirst's husband – at trial, substantial and repeated references were made to Richards and Mathis being drug dealers and engaging in drug use. V RP 648-49, 652, 655, 661; see, e.g., VI RP 793-94 (Phillips referring to Richards as a meth dealer and explaining how he was paid in drugs for being Richards' "tax man"2); X RP 1595, 1602-02 (witness Erin Schibel describing obtaining methamphetamine from Richards and Phillips and her methamphetamine addiction). Mathis also implicated herself and Richards in drug use and drug dealing to establish her defense that she had tried to help Hirst by giving Kitterman methamphetamine to leave Pavek alone. V RP 669-70; see generally V

² A "tax man," according to Phillips, is somebody who uses force or scare tactics to collect money owed. VI RP 793.

RP 665-82 (opening statement of Mathis). At no time did the trial court weigh the probative value of the evidence of drug dealing and drug use against its prejudicial effect. The trial court's sole consideration of the issue was a statement that "they can admit some of this drug stuff 'cause it's kind of part and parcel of this, but they can't beat the drug drum." IV RP 460. No cautionary instruction was given beyond a bare advisement that evidence of a witness's conviction for a crime is admissible only for evaluating the credibility of the witness. CP 624.

Phillips reached a deal with the State before trial and pled guilty in exchange for a sentence of 312 months. VI RP 802-03. He testified against Richards and Mathis at trial. *See generally* VI RP 791 *et seq.*Phillips recanted his previous statement that Richard was present and actually involved directly in Kitterman's death. VI RP 800-01. Instead, his story was that after leaving Mathis' house, Richards told him "there was a snitch that might need to be taxed." VI RP 797-98. Richards then attempted to obtain a gun from a lady named Lily. VI RP 798-99. When Lily did not have the gun, Richards was upset and went to sleep, and Phillips went to Mathis' house alone. VI RP 799. Phillips claimed that Richards was supposed to go with them, but did not. VI RP 800. Phillips understood that they were to be paid \$1000 to beat Kitterman up and scare her, and \$500 "if anybody else was there that got in the way." VI RP 805.

On the night of Kitterman's death, Mathis picked Phillips up from Richards' house. VI RP 805-06. She had with her an item Phillips said belonged to Richards, described as an "ice pick" but actually a three-sided file attached to a handle. VI RP 807. They drove to a babysitter's house and picked up a large quantity of methamphetamine. VI RP 812-14. After they smoked some, Mathis and Phillips continued driving to Kitterman's house. VI RP 814-16. Mathis told Phillips that there could be more money involved, \$10,000 plus \$5,000 for anybody additional in the way if things did not go right and somebody had to be killed. VI RP 816.

Upon arriving at Kitterman's house, Mathis and Phillips smoked methamphetamine with Kitterman. VI RP 818. When they asked Kitterman if she wanted to go to the casino, she initially declined and they left the house. A few minutes later, Kitterman called Mathis and they went back to pick Kitterman up. VI RP 819. At one point during the drive, Mathis pulled over to the side of the road, telling them they could not smoke methamphetamine in the rental car. VI RP 821. When Mathis told him Kitterman was the snitch, Phillips grabbed Kitterman by the neck and slammed her against the vehicle. VI RP 822. Phillips described choking Kitterman repeatedly while Mathis stabbed Kitterman in the stomach with Richards' ice pick. VI RP 824-25. Mathis yelled at Phillips

to finish it and handed him the ice pick. Phillips stabbed her several more times. VI RP 826. Phillips and Mathis picked Kitterman up and threw her off the side of the road. They drove away. VI RP 827.

Afterwards, they went to a house where somebody named Brian lived and smoked more methamphetamine. VI RP 833-34. Mathis and her boyfriend Steve began cleaning the rental vehicle, vacuuming it out and spraying it with bleach and cleaner. VI RP 836. They left and returned in a different car, Mathis' minivan. VI RP 838. Mathis took Phillips to Colville and found a lady to give him a ride back to Spokane. VI RP 839. Mathis gave Phillips an envelope with cash and some methamphetamine. Phillips assumed it was for Richards and asked for more methamphetamine instead. Mathis took the money back and gave Phillips about five grams of methamphetamine. VI RP 840.

Phillips went back to Richards' house, where Richards questioned him about what happened. Phillips initially told him nothing had happened, then later told him "the shit happened." VI RP 841-42. Richards asked if Phillips had anything for him from Mathis, and Phillips gave him the methamphetamine. VI RP 842. According to Phillips, Richards was upset, saying, "This is it?" VI RP 843.

Over Richards' objection, the trial court allowed the State to introduce a number of statements Hirst made to third parties. Hirst did not testify. The statements were deemed admissible against both defendants as statements of a co-conspirator or statements against penal interest. VII RP 981-82 (Bernica, statements about Hirst wanting the rental vehicle to take her husband to rehab in Yakima); VII RP 985 (Bernica, statements by Hirst that Kitterman was found dead and everybody was blaming her); VII RP 990-93 (Walts, statements by Hirst looking for Pavek and Kitterman and saying that it would all be taken care of by Monday and everything should be back to normal); VII RP 1016-1017 (Ramin, statements by Hirst that she was going to get Kitterman thrown in jail, taken care of, removed, disappear, and that she knew some people in Spokane that would take care of it for her); VII RP 1062-64 (Orlando, Hirst asking if she knew anybody who would beat up Kitterman and make her lose the baby and saying she would be willing to pay for it);

Besides Phillips, at trial only eight of the State's 49 witnesses testified about Richards' involvement:

Sergeant Joseph Peterson testified that Richards told him he
 had introduced Mathis and Phillips and that his ice pick

was stolen a week before Kitterman's death. IX-A RP 1294-95.

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