NO. 29048-4-III Consolidated with 29075-1-III

FILED

SEP 2 0 2011

St. Spill J.

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III

TANSY FAY-ARWEN MATHIS &

DAVID EUGENE RICHARDS,

APPELLANTS,

V.

STATE OF WASHINGTON

RESPONDENT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

KARL F. SLOAN Prosecuting Attorney 237 4th Avenue N. P.O. Box 1130 Okanogan County, Washington

509-422-7280 Phone 509-422-7290 Fax NO. 29048-4-III Consolidated with 29075-1-III

FILED

SEP 2 0 2011

5° 5707 1. Benezet

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III

TANSY FAY-ARWEN MATHIS &

DAVID EUGENE RICHARDS,

APPELLANTS,

V.

STATE OF WASHINGTON

RESPONDENT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

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

Accordingly, an instruction to the jury that they must be unanimous to convict or acquit was a correct statement of the law, and did not create constitutional error.

3. THE JURY INSTRUCTION GIVEN IN THIS CASE REGARDING THE SPECIAL VERDICT WAS NOT ERRONEOUS

Jury instructions are proper where, read together, they correctly inform the jury of the applicable law, do not mislead the jury and, allow both parties to argue their theories of the case. See, e.g., *State v. Dana*, 73 Wn.2d 533, 537, 439 P.2d 403 (1968). Claimed errors of law in a jury instruction are reviewed de novo. *In re Pers. Restraint of Hegney*, 138 Wn. App. 511, 521 158 P.3d 1193 (2007). Errors in jury instructions are subject to harmless error analysis. *State v. Brown*, 147 Wn.2d 330, 341, 58 P.3d 889 (2002). Defendant Mathis challenges jury Instruction #51, which instructed the jury on how to enter a special verdict.

a. <u>The Special Verdict Instruction Given In This Case Was Not An</u> Incorrect Statement Of The Law.

State v. Goldberg, 149 Wn.2d 888, 72 P.3d 1083 (2003), established that unanimity was only required for finding in the affirmative on a special verdict for a sentence enhancement. This decision was also applied by the court in *I*.

The trial courts in *Goldberg* and *Coleman* instructed their juries that:

"In order to answer the special verdict form "yes", you must unanimously be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that "yes" is the correct answer. If you have a reasonable doubt as to the question, you must answer "no"."

Goldberg, 149 Wn.2d 888, 893, *Coleman*, 152 Wn. App. at 565. In both cases, the jury returned non-unanimous "no" answers on the special verdict forms. *Goldberg*, 149 Wn.2d at 891, *Coleman*, 152 Wn. App. at 559. Each jury was polled, and upon finding that the jury was not unanimous, both trial judges instructed the jury to continue

deliberations in an effort to reach a unanimous verdict. *Goldberg*, 149 Wn.2d at 891, *Coleman*, 152 Wn. App. at 559.

The Washington Supreme Court in *Goldberg*, and the court in *Coleman*, held that it was error for the jury to be ordered to continue deliberations after returning a nonunanimous "no" answer on the special verdicts, because the non-unanimous "no" constituted a valid verdict when it is returned. *Goldberg*, 149 Wn.2d at 894, *Coleman*, 152 Wn. App. at 565.

Recently, the Washington Supreme Court upheld the *Goldberg* ruling, and clarified its holding that unanimity was only required in order to answer "yes" to the special verdict inquiry. *State v. Bashaw*, 169 Wn.2d 133, 145, 234 P.3d 195 (2010). In that case, the court instructed the jury, in their written instructions, that "[s]ince this is a criminal case, all twelve of you must agree on the answer to the special verdict.". *Bashaw*, 169 Wn.2d at 139.

The issue before the court in *Bashaw* was whether "when a jury has unanimously found a defendant guilty of a substantive crime and proceeds to make an additional finding that would increase the defendant's sentence beyond the maximum penalty allowed by the guidelines, must the jury's answer be unanimous in order to be final?" *Bashaw*, 169 Wn.2d at 145. The court's answer was that,

"[a] nonunanimous jury decision on such a special finding is a final determination that the State has not proved that finding beyond a reasonable doubt."

Bashaw, 169 Wn.2d at 145.

The court noted that *Goldberg* had established that special verdicts do not need to be unanimous in order to be final. *Bashaw*, 169 Wn.2d at 146, citing *Goldberg*, 149 Wn.2d at 895. Thus, under *Goldberg*, a non-unanimous jury decision is nonetheless a

final determination that the State has not proved the special finding beyond a reasonable doubt. *Bashaw*, 169 Wn.2d at 146.

Because the instruction at issue in *Bashaw* contained different language from that issued in *Goldberg*, the court in *Bashaw* reaffirmed the rule in *Goldberg* without considering the specific language of the instruction given in that case. Rather the *Bashaw* court held that the jury instruction stating that all 12 jurors must agree *on the answer* to the special verdict was an incorrect statement of the law." *Bashaw*, 169 Wn.2d at 147.

The written instruction in *Bashaw* was akin to the oral order of the judge in *Goldberg* requiring the jury to return to deliberations after they had returned a valid special verdict answer, only the instruction in *Bashaw* was given preemptively. *Bashaw*, 169 Wn.2d at 147. According to the court, that is because the instruction given in *Bashaw* preemptively directs the jury to reach unanimity. *Bashaw*, 169 Wn.2d at 147.

Because the court in *Bashaw* did not consider the language of the instruction here, or the language of the instruction in *Goldberg*, none of the three cases, *Goldberg*, *Coleman*, or *Bashaw*, supports defendant's claim that the instruction in this case is deficient. In *Bashaw*, the offending jury instruction stated in part:

"Since this is a criminal case, all twelve of you must agree <u>on the answer</u> to the special verdict." (emphasis added)

State v. Bashaw, 144 Wash.App. 196, 201, 182 P.3d 451 (2008); State v. Bashaw, 169 Wn.2d at 139. In the present case the Instruction #51 stated in part:

"Because this is a criminal case, all twelve of you must agree <u>in order to answer</u> to the special verdict forms" (emphasis added).

CPM 73. Unlike the instruction in *Bashaw*, this was not an incorrect statement of the law. The instruction in the present case did not require continued deliberation if the

jurors were not unanimous. If the jurors lacked unanimity, the instruction clearly directed the jurors they should not answer the special verdict forms. This non-unanimous decision would be final, and in accord with the holding in *Bashaw*. ⁵

Similarly, the instruction complied with *Goldberg* and *Coleman*. The courts in *Goldberg* and *Coleman* held that the juries performed as instructed in returning nonunanimous answers to the special verdict inquiries. *Goldberg*, 149 Wn.2d at 894, *Coleman*, 152 Wn. App. at 565.

Here, the instruction did not tell the jury they were required to answer the special verdict form. This instruction left open the possibility that they could not reach a unanimous answer, in which case, under the instruction, they would not be able to enter anything on the form.

As such, under both *Goldberg* and *Coleman*, the instruction did not preemptively coerce the jury to return a unanimous verdict. Unlike the instruction in *Bashaw*, under the instruction here, if the jury could not reach a unanimous verdict, they should leave the verdict form blank.

b. <u>The Issue In Goldberg Was The Trial Judge's Order That The Jury</u> <u>Return To Deliberations.</u>

The error in both *Goldberg* and *Coleman* was the trial court's order that the jury return to deliberations after reaching a non-unanimous "no" answer on the special

⁵ The language that followed in instruction #51 stated:

[&]quot;In order to answer the special verdict forms 'yes', you must unanimously be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that "yes" is the correct answer. If you unanimously have a reasonable doubt as to this question, you must answer 'no'."

CPM 73. This portion of the instruction is also a correct statement of the law and does not conflict with Bashaw, 169 Wash.2d 133. It advised the jury they must be unanimous in order to answer "yes"; and that *if* they did unanimously have a reasonable doubt, that they must answer "no" - rather than return the special verdict without an answer.

verdict form. *Goldberg*, 149 Wn.2d at 894; *Coleman*, 152 Wn. App. at 565. Defendant does not raise this as an issue in this case.

This case is distinguishable from *Goldberg* and *Coleman* in that the jury did not return a non-unanimous verdict. *Goldberg*, 149 Wn.2d at 894; *Coleman*, 152 Wn. App. at 565. Thus, although there was error in *Goldberg* and *Coleman*, no such error occurred in this case.

c. <u>The Jury Instructions Read as a Whole Were Not Misleading</u>.

Instructions must be read as a whole. *State v. Dana*, 73 Wn.2d 533, 439 P.2d 403 (1968); *Roberts v. Goerig*, 68 Wn.2d 442, 413 P.2d 626 (1966). In reviewing claimed error, the court considers "the context of the instructions as a whole," rather than viewing each instruction as an isolated mandate. *State v. Benn*, 120 Wash.2d 631, 654–55, 845 P.2d 289 (1993). In order for jury instructions to be sufficient, they must be "readily understood and not misleading to the ordinary mind." *State v. Dana*, 73 Wash.2d 533, 537.

Thus, the appropriate inquiry is whether the challenged instructions, when read as a whole, led the jurors to a mistaken belief that a unanimous decision was required in order to collectively answer "no" on the special verdicts.

Instruction #50 informed the jurors that they "must fill in the blank provided in verdict form the words 'not guilty' or the word 'guilty', according to the decision you reach." CPM 69-72. The instructions go on to explain that the jury must be unanimous in order to enter either verdict. The special verdict forms had their own instruction stating:

You will also be given a special verdict form for the crimes charged in Counts 1A, 1B, 2, and 3. If you find the defendant not guilty of these crimes do not use

special verdict forms. If you find the defendant not guilty of these crimes do not use special verdict forms. If you find the defendant guilty of these crimes, you will then use the special verdict forms and answer the question for each count that applies by filling in the blank with the answer "yes" or "no" according to the decision(s) you reach. Because this is a criminal case, *all twelve of you must agree in order to answer the special verdict forms*. In order to answer the special verdict forms "yes", you must unanimously be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that "yes" is the correct answer. If you unanimously have a reasonable doubt as to the question, you must answer "no."

CPM 73 (emphasis added). The differences in the instructions and the order in which the forms must be used clearly delineated between the requirements for verdict forms and special verdict forms.

The jury instructions were not misleading when read in their entirety. The instructions clearly differentiated between verdict forms and special verdict forms, and there was a different instruction associated with each. The instructions for the verdict forms for the substantive counts required that the jury enter "guilty" or "not guilty" into the blank on the form; where the special verdict forms required that the jury enter "yes" or "no" into the blank. Moreover, the jury was instructed that they were not to use the special verdict forms unless and until they came to a unanimous guilty verdict on the verdict forms. After reading all the instructions as a whole, it is clear that the unanimity instruction for guilty and not guilty verdicts does not apply to the special verdicts. The unanimity instructions for special verdicts did not require unanimous "no" answers to be final.

The court here instructed the jury that they should each decide the case for themselves, and not change their mind solely for the purpose of reaching a unanimous verdict. *See* CPM 68 (Instruction # 49). This is in the same instruction as the instruction indicating that the jury should strive for a unanimous verdict. This indicated

to the jurors that unanimity is not so important as to warrant the jurors giving up their personal beliefs as to the evidence presented.

A jury is presumed to have followed the instructions given unless there is something in the record which overcomes this presumption. State v. Gamble, 168 Wn.2d 161, 178, 225 P.3d 973 (2010), *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 928, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). The jury instructions in the instant case were neither incorrect nor misleading. It did not require the jury to enter a unanimous verdict, as under the instructions given, the jury would not enter anything onto the special verdict form if they were not unanimous.

Additionally, Instruction #10 stated in part:

...For any of the aggravating circumstances to apply the 12 defendant Tansy Mathis must have been a major participant in acts causing the death of Michelle Kitterman and the aggravating factors must specifically apply to the defendant's actions. The state has the burden of proving this beyond a reasonable doubt. If you have a reasonable doubt whether the defendant Tansy Mathis was a major participant you should answer the special verdict, "no."

CPM 29. Read in conjunction with Instruction # 51 (CPM 73) the jury was

instructed if they had a reasonable doubt that the aggravating circumstances applied to

Tansy Mathis as a major participant "they should answer 'no' "; and if they unanimously

had a reasonable doubt as to the question, "they must answer 'no' ". Taking the

instructions as a whole, the jury was not required to be unanimous on the special

verdicts.

4. EVEN IF THE COURT WERE TO HOLD THE INSTRUCTION WAS ERRONEOUS, ANY SUCH ERROR WAS HARMLESS.

Only after the Court concludes that manifest constitutional error has occurred does the Court then engage in a harmless error analysis. *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d

91, 99, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). In this case the claimed instructional error is not constitutional.

However, assuming arguendo, if this Court were to determine that the jury instruction regarding the special verdict forms contained an error, it is subject to a harmless error analysis. An error is harmless if the court concludes beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury verdict would have been the same absent the error. *State v. Bashaw*, 169 Wn.2d 133, citing *State v. Brown*, 147 Wn.2d at 341.

In this case, any error was harmless where the jury separately found the defendant Mathis guilty of First Degree Murder, Manslaughter in the First Degree and Kidnapping In the First Degree, and Tampering. CPM 80-81.

One of the two aggravating factors found in the Special Verdict Form was that "The murder was committed in the course of or furtherance of, or in immediate flight from kidnapping first degree." CPM 76.

In *Bashaw*, 169 Wash.2d 133, the court expressed concern that it could not say with confidence what result the jury would have reached if it had been given a correct instruction. *Bashaw* at 148. However, under the particular facts of this case, and Mathis' conviction for Kidnapping in the First Degree, is unlikely that the outcome of the trial would have been different if the jury had been instructed differently as to the Special Verdicts Aggravating Circumstance of Kidnapping. Additionally the evidence was beyond a reasonable doubt that Mathis received the value of the rental vehicle and the promise of money for committing the murder.

Any error was also harmless as to the deadly weapon special verdicts for both defendants. In Instruction #52, regarding the special verdict the jury was instructed in pertinent part that:

"For the purposes of a special verdict the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon at the time of the commission of the crime in Counts 1A, 1B, 2, and 3.

If one person is armed with a deadly weapon, all accomplices are deemed so armed, even in only one deadly weapon is involved."

CPM 74. In addition to finding defendant Mathis guilty of all counts, she was also found to have been armed with a deadly weapon on each felony count.

Defendant Richards was convicted of Second Degree Murder and Manslaughter

in the First Degree. He was also found to have been armed with a deadly weapon on

each of those counts.

There was no question of fact that the crimes were carried out while one more of

the participants was armed with a deadly weapon. Based on the convictions and the

deadly weapon instruction, it is unlikely that the outcome of the trial would have been

different if the jury had been instructed differently as to the Special Verdicts forms

regarding the deadly weapon.

The defendants are unable to show that the jury's finding on the special verdicts would have been different under a different instruction, where the jury's special verdicts were consistent with their guilty verdicts. Because defendants are unable to demonstrate prejudice, any error in the jury instructions was harmless.

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